1995

Gerber v. Gerber : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to find that the wife was voluntarily underemployed for purposes of determining alimony?

2) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to impute additional income to the wife for purposes of determining alimony?

3) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in making an award of alimony that exceeded the wife's reasonable needs after considering the wife's actual income?

4) Were the trial court's findings in error related to the wife's actual income?

5) Had there been a sufficient change in the wife's income and expenses to justify a reduction in the husband's alimony obligation?

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

-----ooOoo-----

LOWELL GERBER,	:	
	:	
Plaintiff/Appellant,	:	Case No. 950613-CA
	:	
v.	:	Priority No. 15
	:	
MARY JO GERBER,	:	
	:	District Court Case No.
Defendant/Appellee,	:	924905415
	:	

-----ooOoo-----

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AN APPEAL FROM FINAL FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AND ORDER MODIFYING DECREE OF DIVORCE ENTERED BY
THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS L. CORNABY, ON JUNE 16, 1995
AND AN ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL
AND OBJECTIONS TO PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW SIGNED AND ENTERED BY
THE HONORABLE SANDRA N. PUELLER ON AUGUST 15, 1995.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction of this Court is conferred pursuant to the
provisions of §78-2A-3(2)(i) Utah Code Annotated (Supp. 1993).
This action involves the Plaintiff's appeal from Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of Law and an Order Modifying Decree of Divorce, entered by the Honorable Douglas J. Cornaby, on June 16, 1995, and an Order denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial and Objections to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, signed and entered by the Honorable Sandra N. Pueller, on August 15, 1995. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on September 11, 1995. No cross appeal has been filed.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

There are no specific statutes or cases which are identifiable as determinative authority. As support for Appellant's position, see statutes and cases, cited in the Table of Cases, page iii, of this Brief, infra.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This case is a domestic relations case involving the husband's request for relief from alimony payments which he was making, pursuant to a Decree of Divorce entered approximately one year earlier.

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce were signed and entered on November 23, 1993 as a result of a settlement agreement reached by the parties when the original matter was pre-tried before a domestic relations commissioner in June of 1993. That agreement was read into the record, reduced to writing, and ultimately incorporated into the Findings, Conclusions and Decree.

A material part of the parties' original settlement agreement provided for a review of the alimony award in one year, or such earlier time as requested by either party, based upon the wife's claimed disability related to her thumb and her resulting inability to work as a dental hygienist.

On February 24, 1994, the husband filed a Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce, requesting relief from the original alimony award. The wife had refused to undergo minor surgery to correct the problem with her thumb and had failed to obtain employment at the highest economic level possible as was agreed to under the original Settlement Agreement and ordered by the Decree. The wife responded to the husband's Petition, claiming that the alimony obligation should not be reduced.

A one day trial was held on the Petition to Modify on November 15, 1994. It was tried before the Honorable Douglas Cornaby, the judge assigned to handle the case for the Honorable Richard Moffat, the judge originally assigned to the case. At trial, both sides were represented by counsel, both parties testified and each called a physician to testify in support of their respective positions.

At the conclusion of the evidence, and after hearing argument from counsel, Judge Cornaby ruled from the bench and 1) kept the husband's alimony obligation at \$4,000 per month until December 1, 1995; 2) reduced the alimony obligation from \$4,000 to \$3,500 per month from December 1, 1995 to December 1, 1996, at which time it was to be reduced by an additional \$500 with that \$3,000 per month

alimony obligation to then continue permanently; and 3) required each side to pay their own attorney's fees and costs.

The husband then timely filed a Motion for New Trial and Objections to the Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by the wife. Judge Cornaby denied that Motion and an Order to that effect was signed and entered by the Honorable Sandra N. Pueller, (on behalf of Judge Cornaby) on August 15, 1995. The husband timely filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court on September 11, 1995. No cross-appeal has been filed by the wife.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the review of an initial alimony award as provided for under a Decree of Divorce, the terms of which resulted from a settlement agreement reached by the parties at the original pre-trial conference held in conjunction with the original divorce proceedings. (R-71)

Paragraph 3 of the Decree provides as follows:

Defendant is awarded alimony from plaintiff in the sum of \$4,000 a month commencing with the month of July 1993, based upon the current financial circumstances of the parties as shown in their Financial Declarations and under circumstances where defendant is currently unable to work based upon her present physical disability.

There shall be an automatic review of this alimony award in one year from the date of the entry of the Decree of Divorce, or earlier if circumstances warrant, based upon the anticipation that defendant will use her best efforts to seek and obtain employment at the highest economic level and will, further, use her best efforts to rehabilitate herself from her disability to help her achieve her best employment opportunities.

The issue is reserved as to whether defendant's employment should be full or part-time based upon the needs of the children. At the time of the review, each party shall have the right to express his or her respective position on this

issue, as plaintiff's position is that defendant should seek and obtain full time employment and defendant;s position is that she should seek and obtain part time employment due to the children's needs.

Plaintiff shall have the right to request defendant to obtain a physical examination by a hand expert currently, with a further examination six months from the entry of the Decree of Divorce and a second further examination one year from the entry of the Decree of Divorce to assist the Court in determining defendant's ability to obtain employment.

At the time of the review by the Court, if there has been a substantial change in financial circumstances or ability, then the Court may make adjustments in the alimony award based upon those changes. (R-76)

Other pertinent provisions of their agreement/the Decree, included:

- 1) The husband was to pay \$2,100 per month in child support for the support of the parties' three minor children, ages 15, 13 and 11. (R-77)
- 2) The wife received the marital residence in Park City, Utah. (R-77)
- 3) Both parties each received over \$150,000 in cash. (R-77)
- 4) Both parties received substantial IRA retirement funds. (R-77, 78)
- 5) Each party was to pay their own attorney's fees. (R-79)

At the time of the original divorce proceedings, the parties resided in Park City, Utah and the husband was a physician in private practice in Salt Lake City, specializing in cardiology.

The wife was not employed but had worked extensively as a dental hygienist in the past. She claimed she was unable to work in that field at the time of the settlement because a few months earlier, she had broken her wrist and in the process injured a

tendon in her thumb. This, she claimed, caused an immobility in her hand and precluded her from pursuing her career in dental hygienics.

In negotiating their agreement in relation to alimony, the wife's claimed disability was specifically addressed and the wife agreed to do her best to get back into the work force at the highest economic level possible, as soon as possible. That promise, on the part of the wife, was an integral and essential part of the husband's agreement to pay the wife alimony at the \$4,000 per month level for the first one year. It was felt that this would give the wife enough time to have the surgery, recover and begin earning the \$3,000 to \$4,000 per month which dental hygienists regularly earn.

After the Decree was entered, the wife did not seek employment in dental hygienics; did not seek corrective surgery for her hand/tendon; and chose to work as a part-time substitute teacher for \$5.67 per hour.

Because of this inaction/action on the part of the wife and the accompanying financial hardship placed on the husband, he filed a Petition to Modify the original alimony award, requesting a reduction in the award at least commensurate with what the wife was capable of earning as a dental hygienist.

After the Petition was filed, a one day trial was held in front of Judge Cornaby on November 15, 1994.

The testimony and documents presented by both parties at trial established the following facts, all of which have substantial bearing related to the issues raised on appeal.

Dr. Gerber is 45 years old and in good health. He is a cardiologist and was self employed as a private practitioner in Salt Lake City, Utah. (R-302) While the original divorce proceedings were pending, he received an offer to practice cardiology in Florida at a salary of \$200,000 per year. (R-246) The Financial Declaration, which he filed with the Court in the original divorce proceedings, reflected that \$200,000 per year salary, (\$16,660 per month gross) (R-57). This was the salary on which the original alimony and child support awards were calculated with the specific, express understanding that his wife would do what was necessary to improve or remedy the condition of her thumb so that she could pursue her profession as a dental hygienist. (R-76)

At the modification hearing, Dr. Gerber stated that the demands placed upon him by his new employer in Florida required him to work much harder than he had in the past. He works from 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. every weekday, and he is required to work one night per week on call. He also works two weekends per month, from Friday at 7:00 a.m. to Sunday at 12:00 noon. (R-252) His average work day consists of 12 to 14 hours and he regularly works over 80 hours per week. (R-253) Since his move to Florida, he has been required to work harder and spend more hours, or make less money.

He is currently only an employee of his Florida clinic. He is still in the three year probationary period of his employment contract with the clinic. (R-336) He has no stock ownership in the clinic (R-278) and is not participating in the clinic's pension plan. (R-278) His \$200,000 per year salary places him in the 34% tax bracket. (R-337)

Because of the additional time he spends at work, he incurs higher living expenses, and under his current circumstances, after he pays taxes and his child support obligation, he has little, if anything, to live on. (R-256; Ex P-1, P-2) He has had to use the savings which he was awarded in the original Decree to cover the shortfall. (R-256) He also used those savings to purchase a 2400 square foot house in Florida and had to incur additional installment debt in order to acquire and furnish his new residence. (R-266 and P-2) His former wife and three children continue to reside in the 5700 square foot house in Park City, Utah. (R-257)

Given his current economic circumstances, he is unable to put anything away for retirement or any monies away for the children's college education. (R-268) He indicated that he simply cannot continue to pay the \$4,000 per month in alimony he originally agreed to pay and stated that amount was intended to be temporary and specifically conditioned upon his wife maximizing her earning potential within a year so that the amount of alimony could be reduced or perhaps eliminated. Following the reaching of the agreement, Dr. Gerber kept his part of the bargain and paid \$2,100

per month in child support and \$4,000 per month in alimony that had been agreed upon. (R-270)

Ms. Gerber is in her early 40's and in good health but for a mobility problem with her thumb. (R-17) She graduated from the University of Chicago at Loyola in 1975 with a Bachelor's of Science in Dental Hygienics. (R-367) She was certified as a dental hygienist in several states but allowed her license and certification to lapse. (R-369, 272) She acknowledged that the parties' original agreement contemplated her recertifying as a dental hygienist. (R-410)

Ms. Gerber did nothing to attempt to recertify, as she had agreed to do, until after Dr. Gerber filed his Petition to Modify. (R-405) She then took the examination in June of 1994 and did not pass. (R-370) She received perfect scores on the written exam, patient presentation, and radiographic techniques, (R-407) but failed the patient portion of the exam. She needed 70 points to pass and received only 68 points. (R-412, Ex. D-18)

Since then, she has voluntarily elected not to take the test again, even though it is given at least bi-monthly at various locations throughout the western states. (R-405) She testified that she did not want to go out of state to take the exam because it took approximately 2 days and it would be "too traumatic" for her. (R-405) When questioned about her performance on the test, she stated that she did very well on the polishing portion of the exam but did not pass the scaling portion. (R-371) She said that she felt the reason she could not pass the scaling portion was that

it had been "so long since she had done that type of work". (R-372, 373) She stated that taking the test again possibly could make a difference but said she was not capable of practicing for the exam because she "did not have a license". (R-373) She admitted that she could earn substantially more as a dental hygienist (R-374) and acknowledged it would amount to approximately \$200 per day. (R-402) She said dental hygienists in the Salt Lake area were paid on the average of \$25 per hour. (R-402)

She described the problem with her hand as centered around mobility and tactility. "Tactility" means the ability to sense in the hand, the pressure being applied to the tooth or area around the tooth by the instrument. She then went on to say that mobility in her thumb was no longer a problem, inasmuch as she had been able to compensate by adjusting the position of her hand while working on patients, (R-374) but she still felt that there was a problem with sensitivity. Initially, she stated she did not believe an operation to the tendon in question would help, (R-374) but later admitted that such surgery help would remedy the problem. (R-374, 375) She said that she had voluntarily elected not to undergo the surgery because she "did not want to be cut open again". (R-363)

During cross examination, she changed her position and stated that while she believed she had a physical disability in June of 1993, (R-404) she admitted that she no longer had the disability. (R-403) She again acknowledged that the parties' agreement related to alimony was tied to the problem with her thumb and her promise to rectify the same. (R-404) When asked if she was going to

recertify as soon as possible, she did not respond. (R-406) She admitted that she could get her mobility and tactility back if she practiced and estimated that that might take several months to two years, but said that with practice she would improve. (R-408) She further admitted that she did not attempt to apply again to recertify because she has been busy with the children, (R-411) but indicated recertification tests were given bi-monthly throughout the intermountain area. She further admitted that in order to recertify, she would not have to go back to school and did not have to get another degree. (R-412) She simply has to pass the test, a test which she came within two points in passing, the one and only time she took it. (R-412) On further cross examination, she stated that she simply did not want to go back into the field of dental hygiene. (R-412)

During the hearing, the parties stipulated that if Ms. Gerber could work as a dental hygienist, she could earn \$1,000 per week and that work as a dental hygienist was available in the metropolitan Salt Lake area. (R-272-274) The trial court accepted that stipulation. (R-273)

Instead of doing what she agreed to do under the original Agreement, Ms. Gerber took a job as a substitute teacher, working four days per week, at \$45 per day. (R-376) This equates to \$5.67 per hour. (R-403) She said she was working 32 hours per week (R-413), and had Mondays off so that she could volunteer at the library. (R-387) She said she could work Mondays if necessary.

(R-413) She was working four full days a week at the time of trial.
(R-4140]

From the date of the Settlement Agreement until the time of trial, Ms. Gerber had submitted only one job application in a field related to dental hygiene and she was informed that job had been given to another applicant. (Ex. D-18) This occurred well after Dr. Gerber filed his Petition to Modify.

Ms. Gerber then said that because of the children's extra-curricular activities, she felt that she would be precluded from working full time, but was in fact working 32 hours per week as a substitute teacher at the time of trial, (R-389) earning \$780 per month. (R-377)

She testified that her needs for the \$4,000 per month alimony award and the \$2,100 per month child support award had not changed since the parties' original agreement. (R-393) However, at the time of the agreement, she was earning no income and claimed that she had monthly expenses of \$7,017. (R-390, Ex. D-21) She indicated that at the time the Petition for Modification was tried, her monthly expenses had decreased to the sum of \$5,800. (R-392, Ex. D-20) On cross examination related to the \$5,800 in expenses, she admitted that \$600 per month was allocated towards payment of her attorney's fees; the health insurance premium of \$186 was in fact \$96; and that the \$200 monthly computer expenses were related to the purchase of a computer and those payments would end in five months. (R-396) The total of those "extra" expenses amounted to \$890. She further admitted that she had \$71,000 (R-395) in non-

retirement investment accounts and could use those monies to eliminate the \$800 in monthly payments for attorney's fees and the computer. She also acknowledged that she had dividend and investment income of approximately \$3,600 per year, or \$300 per month. (R-401)

In December of 1992, just prior to the parties' original settlement agreement, Ms. Gerber broke her wrist and as a result of that fracture, she experienced a tear in a tendon, which runs along the top of the thumb down to the wrist. That tear was sutured and some scar tissue developed around the torn, but repaired tendon. The resulting scar tissue caused a restriction of mobility to Ms. Gerber's thumb. Both parties called physicians to testify as to the nature of this problem and what could be done to correct it.

Dr. Larry Leonard, Dr. Gerber's expert, testified that he was a specialist in reconstructive surgery and that his sub-specialty was hand surgery. He devoted 90% of his practice to that sub-specialty. (R-344) He indicated that tendon repair, resulting in restricted motion was very common (R-346) and that such restricted mobility could be remedied by a surgery known as Tenolysis. It is an outpatient surgery, requiring a regional anesthetic block and involving at best, one hour of surgery, requiring a small incision to be made above the tendon, allowing entry into the affected area for the purpose of cutting away the scar tissue and freeing the tendon. (R-348) He indicated that there was a 90% chance of improving the mobility and a 50% chance of returning mobility to normal function. (R-350) He indicated he felt the risk of any

complications related to the surgery was 5%, (R-354) and that there would be no improvement of Ms. Gerber's condition without surgical intervention. (R-358) He concluded by indicating that in his opinion, if Ms. Gerber wanted to go to work as a dental hygienist, she should have the surgery so that complete mobility of her thumb could be restored. (R-361)

Ms. Gerber called Dr. Boyd Cole, also a reconstructive surgeon, who indicated that approximately one half of his practice was devoted to hand surgery. (R-307) Dr. Cole said it was possible Ms. Gerber's condition might worsen as a result of the tenolysis surgery, but gave no percentages other than to conclude it was possible. (R-313) He acknowledged knowing Dr. Larry Leonard and considered him to be a good hand surgeon and a good diagnostician. (R-317) He also acknowledged that the problem could be remedied with tenolysis surgery which would be performed on an outpatient basis. (R-321 and 322)

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