1995

Lowell Gerber v. Mary Jo Gerber : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. DR. GERBER HAS FAILED TO PROPERLY MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION AND THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT HIS APPEAL.

This Court requires an appellant challenging factual findings to marshal all the evidence which supports those findings and demonstrate why that evidence when viewed in a light most favorable to the findings does not support those findings. Saunders, 806 P.2d at 199; Peterson, 818 P.2d 1305. Dr. Gerber's brief contains no discussion whatsoever, let alone a challenge to, or marshaling of, the evidence which supports the trial court's Findings of Fact numbers 10, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17 and 18 where the court made

the factual finding that Ms. Gerber was acting appropriately in serving as an involved parent who worked part time and was extensively involved with the childrens' lives. By failing to properly address these findings, this Court should refuse to review the challenge to these findings and the conclusions of law the trial court made based on these facts.

II. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY AWARDED ALIMONY
TO MS. GERBER BASED ON THE PARTIES' AGREED LANGUAGE
IN THE DECREE OF DIVORCE

The parties agreed to the inclusion of the following language in their Decree of Divorce:

The issue is reserved as to whether defendant's employment should be full or part-time based upon the needs of the children. At the time of the review, each party shall have the right to express his or her respective positions on this issue, as plaintiff's position is that the defendant should seek and obtain full-time employment and the defendant's position is that she should seek and obtain part-time employment due to the children's needs. (Record 76).

Ms. Gerber presented her position as to the needs of the children in terms of the childrens' school, sports, religious training and social activities. She also presented evidence that she could work part time as a substitute teacher, have hours that matched her childrens', and meet both the childrens' needs and her commitment to provide income to the family. The trial court, after hearing the testimony of the parties on this question, ruled that Dr. Gerber should pay the agreed amount of alimony at the rate of \$4,000.00 per month with a gradual reduction in that amount to \$3,000.00 per month and then continue at that rate. The court heard and determined that Dr. Gerber's income had not changed from prior to the entry of the Decree nor had Dr. Gerber's living expenses changed sufficiently to justify a further change in Ms. Gerber's alimony.

The court heard Ms. Gerber's testimony concerning her living standards and her ability to provide income for herself in light of the parties' agreement that she should continue to provide for the needs of the children. Noting that Dr. Gerber retained \$10,500.00 per month of his salary while \$6,100.00 thereof was transmitted to Ms. Gerber and the parties' children and after the effective date of the declines Dr. Gerber would retain \$11,500.00 of his earnings (until the child support terminated) at which time he will be retaining \$13,666.00 of his monthly income and transmitting \$3,000.00 of his monthly income as alimony, the trial court concluded that there was no justification for changing the alimony amount. The court appropriately considered the needs of Ms. Gerber, less her ability to provide support for herself, and Dr. Gerber's ability to pay, keeping in mind the goal of permitting the parties to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed by the parties during their marriage and the needs of the parties' children. There simply was no error in the trial court's conclusion.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDING
THAT THERE HAD BEEN NO SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE
IN CIRCUMSTANCES JUSTIFYING A MODIFICATION
OF THE DECREE IS AMPLY SUPPORTED
BY THE RECORD.

The trial court correctly made the factual finding that there had been no change in Dr. Gerber's income and no real change in the living expenses of either of the parties which would justify an immediate change in Ms. Gerber's alimony. As Judge Cornaby stated on the record:

Now, so far as the parties and the standard of living to be maintained, let me just say that I think as I have gone through these extensive documents that have been given to the court that the plaintiff is really not in need of

having it reduced. There is no question that he has a desire to have it reduced. There's no question that he spent a lot more money and has maintained a lifestyle or even changed a lifestyle that's required more money, but I think that's all voluntary choice.

By the same token, the defendant really has no great new needs or -- we do have her salary increase of \$755.00, or whatever it is, per month which adds to her income which was anticipated.

...

Yes, so, if you want to talk about what needs are, I think there is -- I would look at those needs of both parties and say, "Yeah, there's inflation in both of those that are not needs in a technical sense, that there is needs in the sense that you want to maintain that standard of living that you've always had. And even though you've got much more money than most cases talk about when they come before the Court, you both still got lots of things that you could cut out if you chose to." You are just not being forced to, I guess, only by your own income and needs.

(Record 452-453). As noted by the trial court, Dr. Gerber simply presented insufficient evidence to justify an immediate change in the amount of alimony. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

DR. GERBER'S FAILURE TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS PRECLUDES THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

This Court has articulated the following test for appellants challenging factual findings of a trial court:

In challenging the trial court's factual Findings, Dr. Gerber:

must marshall all evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even reviewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact. If the Appellant fails to marshall the evidence, the appellate court

assumes the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to review the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case.

Saunders, 806 P.2d at 199 (citations omitted), Peterson, 818 P.2d at 1308. An examination of Dr. Gerber's brief demonstrates that none of the trial court's findings of fact are properly challenged. While the Court is cited to portions of the Record that Dr. Gerber believes supports his challenge, no effort is made to show all of the relevant facts presented to the trial court, much less is there an attempt to properly challenge any of the factual findings of the court. Dr. Gerber simply states that the court erred in its exercise of its discretion without marshaling all the evidence which supported that decision.

The marshaling rule was adopted so that there would be an understanding by both the appellee and this Court as to what evidence exists in support of a ruling by the trial court. This is required so that this Court is not put in the position of simply retrying the case without seeing or hearing the witnesses. As the Utah Supreme Court stated in a similar case, Nilson v. Nilson:

this court is reluctant to reconsider evidence that a trial court is in an advantaged position to weigh. Our removal from the participants in a trial puts us in the disadvantaged position of reviewing testimony from a cold record. On review, we cannot judge the intonation of voice, or the manner and demeanor of witnesses as the trial judge is able to do.

652 P.2d 1323, 1324-1324 (Utah 1982).¹

¹ See also Envirotech Corp. v. Callahan, 872 P.2d 487, 495 (Utah App. 1994): Callahan does not properly attack the findings of the trial court on that issue. He attempts to draw our attention to the testimony of witnesses, which tends to be contrary to the findings, and he conveniently ignores the testimony of witnesses that support the findings. Callahan ignores his affirmative duty to properly attack the findings by marshaling the evidence.

Dr. Gerber has simply attempted to retry and re-argue the matter to this Court by claiming that the trial court's decision was somehow "unfair". He ignores Ms. Gerber's role as child care provider as well as the fact that he specifically agreed to have the issue of alimony reviewed within a year. Now, after that review, he wants this Court to ignore the trial court's position as the finder of fact and review the evidence presented in that review without following the Court's explicit marshaling mandate.

Rather than marshaling the evidence that supported the trial court's conclusion, he has downplayed it or made it difficult to find. By arguing the evidence that was not accepted by the trial court, he asks this Court to reject the findings of the trial court without marshaling the evidence which supports those findings. This is a procedure which this Court has unequivocally ruled is inappropriate. By taking this course, Dr. Gerber has failed to properly present his appeal and this Court should "assume[]" that the record supports the findings of the trial court . . ." Procon Corp. v. Utah Dept. of Transportation, 876 P.2d 890, 894 (Utah App. 1994) and based thereon, that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in its ruling.

Because of Callahan's failure to marshall the evidence, we assume the record supports the findings of the trial court.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY AWARDED ALIMONY
TO MS. GERBER IN LIGHT OF THE ABILITY OF DR. GERBER
TO PAY, THE NEED OF MS. GERBER TO MAINTAIN
THE STANDARD OF LIVING ENJOYED BY
THE PARTIES DURING THE MARRIAGE AND
MS. GERBER'S ABILITY TO EARN INCOME.

Even if the Court were to ignore Dr. Gerber's failure to properly marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's decision, a review of the relevant facts demonstrates that the trial court did not err in its factual findings or in its legal conclusion that the amount of alimony should not immediately drastically change or terminate. On June 23, 1993, the parties stipulated that Dr. Gerber was to pay \$4,000.00 per month as alimony to Ms. Gerber. They specifically reserved the issue as to whether or not the alimony should be based on a full-time or part-time employment based on the needs of the children and the physical disability which Ms. Gerber was suffering at the time of the entry of the making of the agreement.² When that question came back before the court

²While Dr. Gerber only focuses on a portion of the stipulation, the relevant portion provides in whole:

Defendant is awarded alimony from plaintiff in the sum of \$4,000 a month commencing with the month of July, 1993, based upon the current financial circumstances of the parties as shown in their Financial Declarations and under circumstances where defendant is currently unable to work based upon her present physical disability.

There shall be an automatic review of this alimony award in one year from the date of the entry of the Decree of Divorce, or earlier if circumstances warrant, based upon the anticipation that defendant will use her best efforts to seek and obtain employment at the highest economic level and will, further, use her best efforts to rehabilitate herself from her disability to help her achieve her best employment opportunities.

for trial on November 15, 1994, the court found there had been no substantial change in the financial circumstances of the party which would justify a drastic reduction or termination of alimony. Dr. Gerber was earning the same amount of income that he had been earning at the time he entered the agreement and the parties had living expenses that were basically unchanged.³

In Finding of Fact number 18 (Record 157), the court determined Ms. Gerber's income earning ability and her ability to meet her needs without alimony. In making its order regarding alimony, the trial court carried out the directions of this Court and the Utah Supreme Court. As the rule has been articulated:

It is well established that the "function of alimony is to provide support for the [receiving spouse] as nearly as possible at the standard of living [he or]

The issue is reserved as to whether defendant's employment should be full or part-time based upon the needs of the children. At the time of the review, each party shall have the right to express his or her respective position on this issue, as plaintiff's position is that defendant should seek and obtain full-time employment and defendant's position is that she should seek and obtain part-time employment due to the children's needs.

Plaintiff shall have the right to request defendant to obtain a physical examination by a hand expert currently, with a further examination six months from the entry of the Decree of Divorce and a second further examination one year from the entry of the Decree of Divorce to assist the Court in determining defendant's ability to obtain employment.

(Emphasis added).

³It should be noted that, had the trial court considered the alternative examined by the Utah Supreme Court in Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1988) of dividing the income of the parties to maintain each of them at the same standard of living, a substantially higher alimony award could have been made. 748 P.2d at 1081.

she enjoyed during the marriage and to prevent the [receiving spouse] from becoming a public charge.”

Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985) quoting English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 411 (Utah 1977).

The parties presented conflicting testimony over the issue of whether or not Ms. Gerber could work as a dental hygienist. However, there was no question that she did not have a license and did not have sufficient tactile ability to allow her to function so as to obtain the license necessary to practice as a dental hygienist. The issues of whether or not that tactility could be restored to her or a training program existed which would allow her eventually receive a license could not be resolved. As Judge Cornaby declared in his ruling of June 16, 1995 on Dr. Gerber’s Motion for a New Trial:

The plaintiff wants the defendant to work full time and earn \$4,000.00 per month as a dental hygienist. Presumably, if she did earn \$4,000.00, he would not have to pay alimony. . . .

A new trial could not prove that the Defendant has the tactile ability to be a dental hygienist. It could not prove that the Defendant would qualify for admission to Weber’s Dental Hygiene School, that a special program would in fact be designed, that after completing the program the Defendant would have the tactile ability to function as a dental hygienist, and that the Defendant would in fact be certified.

The Court at trial concluded that the Defendant should be able to earn more than her current monthly income of \$300.00 per month. The Court gave her until December, 1995, to increase her income by \$500 per month, and until December, 1996, to increase her income by another \$500 per month. The Court knew this would be full time work and would not be in the children’s best interest. The Plaintiff, however, insisted upon it. (Record 148-149).

Judge Cornaby’s findings of fact reveal that he considered all of the factors mandated by this Court and the Utah Supreme Court in making his alimony

determination. He made an award that requires Ms. Gerber to gradually increase her earnings. As he said, unfortunately, this will cause her to have less time to spend with the children. Judge Cornaby made clear that he ordered the reduction only because Dr. Gerber demanded it and not because of any change in the parties' circumstances. The court did note that his decision was made in part because of the relatively large amount of assets that each party controlled and would have controlled had they remained married. Despite obtaining his goal, Dr. Gerber pursues an appeal to this Court to try to take away the \$3,000.00 which Judge Cornaby, on a long-term basis, awarded to Ms. Gerber.

Dr. Gerber's income was \$16,666.67 per month and while there was evidence that he may have changed his tax withholdings (Record 282-287), his gross income remained the same as that at the time of the Decree. His living expenses remained basically the same. (Exhibits 2, 9 and 10). His testimony also revealed that he knew what his mortgage and basic living expenses would be when he entered into the parties' agreement to settle the matter on June 23, 1993 (Record 289). He also acknowledged on cross examination that he made claims for living expenses on Exhibit 2 which he was not in fact paying (Record 339). The trial court's findings reflect the evidence presented that Dr. Gerber's ability to pay alimony has not significantly changed since the parties' agreement.

Ms. Gerber testified that her needs were basically the same as at the time the parties' stipulated the alimony amount. She testified that she still was in need of the \$4,000.00 in alimony and \$2,100.00 in child support to support herself and the children in the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage (Record 393). Again, the trial court did

not err in finding that Ms. Gerber needed additional money to live in the lifestyle the parties' enjoyed during their marriage.

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